Minutes of the Workshop Meeting of January 19, 2012

Page 2

UNAPPROVED

CITY OF BLAINE

ANOKA COUNTY, MINNESOTA

WORKSHOP

CITY COUNCIL MEETING NO. 12-04
Thursday, January 19, 2012
6:30 P.M.

Cloverleaf Farm Room

10801 Town Square Drive

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Ryan at 6:30 p.m.

PRESENT:  Councilmembers Bourke, Clark (arrived at 6:36 p.m.), Hovland, Kolb, Swanson, and Mayor Ryan 
ABSENT:  Councilmember Herbst
Quorum Present.

ALSO PRESENT:  Clark Arneson, City Manager; Tom Sweeney, City Attorney; Bryan Schafer, Community Development Director; Bob Therres, Public Services Manager; Joe Huss, Finance Director; Jean Keely, City Engineer; Chris Olson, Safety Service Manager/Police Chief; Roark Haver, Communications Technician; Jane Cross, City Clerk; and Recording Secretary Linda Dahlquist.   
2011 State Law Relative to Variances 

City Attorney Sweeney stated on May 6, 2011, a new state law became effective relative to the granting of zoning variances by Minnesota Cities.  He stated the new statute provides a more flexible variance standard for cities in response to a 2010 Minnesota Supreme Court Case which stated that the City of Minnetonka “does not have the authority to grant a variance unless the applicant can show that her property cannot be put to a reasonable use without a variance.”  Mr. Sweeney stated the new law replaces the “undue hardship” standard for a variance with the “practical difficulties” standard.  The new law retains the two factors for variances relative to the uniqueness of the property and the maintaining of the essential character of the neighborhood.  The new law also adds language requiring that the variance be consistent with the comprehensive plan.  

Mayor Ryan asked if hardship could be financial.  City Attorney Sweeney replied no.

Councilmember Bourke stated the City has to follow the comprehensive plan and the zoning ordinances closely.  City Attorney Sweeney replied the variance has to be consistent with the comprehensive plan and the zoning ordinances. 

Councilmember Swanson stated Blaine has been doing this for the past 25 years.  City Attorney Sweeney replied the City has struggled with the term “undue hardship” which is no longer an issue.  

Councilmember Clark arrived at 6:36 p.m.

Councilmember Swanson asked about Conditional Use Permits (CUP) and the City’s authority.  City Attorney Sweeney replied CUP is a permitted use that is subject to conditions within the zoning code.  Mr. Sweeney read the eight conditions for zoning codes.

The Lakes of Radisson Letter of Credit 
Public Services Manager Therres stated in 2003 the development of The Lakes of Radisson plats began with the preparation of an Alternate Urban Area Review (AUAR).  He stated a component of the AUAR was a traffic report that identified six intersections that would need modifications as a result of increased traffic from the project.  He stated the financial responsibility for intersection improvements was negotiated with the developer and was included in the development agreement for The Lakes of Radisson 20th Addition in 2005 and the City received a letter of credit for the future traffic signal and intersection channelization work.  
Mr. Therres stated in 2007, the developer revised the original traffic report included in the AUAR to reflect plat changes due to findings that the improvements may be excessive due to less traffic generation.  He stated in 2009, the City sent a letter to Emmerich Development asking that his letter of credit be renewed for the intersection improvements; although, in November Emmerich Development allowed the letter of credit to expire.  Mr. Therres stated in October 2011, Mr. Emmerich agreed to share the cost with the City for a third party review of The Lakes traffic generation and future offsite improvements, and after an RFP was prepared to look for a third party consultant, Mr. Emmerich’s staff responded by email that he would not participate in an additional study to resolve the issue. 

City Engineer Keely summarized that Mr. Emmerich signed a Development Agreement in 2005 that stated the future offsite improvement responsibilities and that the City accepted a letter of credit.  She stated that with the change in economic times, The Lakes development has slowed, but still has future traffic generation coming with the full build-out.  Ms. Keely stated the developer has accomplished minimal work in order to get an Anoka County permit.  Ms. Keely stated the City staff feels the developer still has traffic signal and intersection responsibilities that the developers on the north side of 125th Avenue have also contributed.  She stated the City Attorney’s opinion is that the developer is in breach of a signed contract and that the City’s options to remedy this breach include bringing suit against the developer or withholding building permits in this development.  
Mike Quigley, Mainstreet 1000, stated the approval of The Lakes development was dependent on an Alternate Urban Area Review (AUAR) that included a traffic study.  He stated the traffic study was based on assumptions that have not come to fruition.  Mr. Quigley distributed a handout to the Council.  
Vernon Swing, RLK Incorporated, stated his company conducted the original traffic study in the AUAR in 2003 and the subsequent work done in 2010.  He stated the AUAR process is intended to look at worse case, preferred case and lease case scenarios.  He stated the worst case gets flushed out and accommodations are developed.  He stated the AUAR showed a traffic amount from the development that is not realistic.  Mr. Swing stated his company determined the flow of the traffic from the new development.  He stated what has been discovered over the seven years is that the forecast is off on the County Road and what was forecasted is greater than what is presently on the road with The Lakes development and the county traffic.  He stated the forecast model showed traffic was sent north to 125th because it appeared the travel time was equal to go down Lexington as to go down Radisson to get to Hwy 35W.
Councilmember Clark asked whose model included the north traffic assumption.  Mr. Swing replied it was in RLK’s model that the traffic would go north to use Lexington.  He stated the counts that were done in 2010 suggest the forecast numbers are ten times higher than actual.  He stated people are driving the Lakes Parkway and going down Radisson.
Councilmember Clark asked who forecasted the numbers.  Mr. Swing replied the forecast was done for the AUAR by City’s staff, County staff and consultants in 2002.
Mr. Swing stated on Cloud Drive and 125th, initially in the 2003 AUAR, showed an office complex which would generate more traffic than the current Elementary School.  He stated the improvements that are suggested as necessary for the future will not be achieved.  He stated part of the AUAR process is to continue testing relative to the ceiling of maximum expected growth.  
Councilmember Clark asked who made the decision to change from an office building to a school.  Mr. Swing replied it was a joint agreement.

Councilmember Swanson asked about the development of the northeast corner of The Lakes.  Community Development Director Schafer replied the northeast corner is 15-20% undeveloped.  Mr. Quigley stated what is in place now was planned development.  Discussion took place on the areal map.  Development Director Schafer stated the northeast area is 50-70% built-out with occupied housing. 

Councilmember Clark asked if there is any change in density compared to what was planned, other than the office building.  Development Director Schafer replied areas in the north part are less dense than what was proposed.  He stated the south half is built-out as proposed, but the north half is not built-out.  

Councilmember Bourke asked if the letter of credit is through a bank.  Mr. Emmerich replied the federal government does not recognize letters of credit.  Councilmember Bourke confirmed the original letter of credit covered the build-out completely.  Councilmember Bourke asked for clarification that the original letter of credit covered the entire project.  He understood a letter of credit would cover the project until the complete build-out.  City Manager Arneson stated the letter of credit has to be renewed routinely, but in this case the letter was not renewed.   
City Manager Arneson stated the City suggested bringing in a third party engineer to give a recommendation.  He stated Mr. Emmerich declined the offer and he is here tonight to tell the Council they are done with the improvements they are obligated to make.  Mr. Arneson commented if the improvements are needed, the City and residents would have to pay.
Councilmember Bourke stated the development agreement states the developer is obligated.  He asked is there is any way to fund the letter of credit.  He asked the Council if there is a consensus that Emmerich has obligation.  Mr. Emmerich replied it is time for an adjustment.  He stated the developer agreement is in place and the letter of credit needs to be renewed.

Councilmember Clark asked if the City committed funds for the improvements on 125th.  Community Development Director Schafer replied the City did not make any investments.  City Engineer Keely stated the developer put in the turn lanes at locations A and B as shown on the areal map.  Ms. Keely stated each of the developments on the north side of 125th have paid cash for the proposed intersection and road improvements.  She stated money is in escrow waiting for the road improvement projects to be constructed when signal warrants are met.
Councilmember Bourke asked how much was spent on road improvements for the five intersections.  Mr. Emmerich replied he does not have a dollar amount for the five intersections.

Councilmember Swanson stated the agreement with the developer included the five intersections.  He stated the developer is saying he does not have to complete the five intersections.  Mr. Emmerich replied the AUAR is overestimated. 

Councilmember Clark asked what an independent traffic study would cost.  City Engineer Keely replied approximately $10,000.  City Manager Arneson commented the City wanted to split the cost with the developer.  Mr. Emmerich stated if the results from the independent study are the end of the issue, he would agree to split the cost.  

Councilmember Swanson asked if Mr. Emmerich would use the numbers from the study.  Mr. Emmerich agreed to use the same numbers.

City Manager Arneson stated the Council’s options are to use a mediator, take the developer to court, decline Emmerich building permits, or Emmerich Development is done and Blaine’s taxpayers will pay for the improvements.
Councilmember Hovland asked about the traffic level assumptions that were made based on The Lakes development.   City Engineer Keely stated the staff disagreed with the revised traffic report.  She stated current counts on 125th are not representative of the true traffic due to the road being closed on the west end for over three years.  

Councilmember Clark stated he is willing to use the City’s traffic numbers.  Councilmember Swanson commented both parties have to agree on the numbers by the third party or the City will go to mediation and the judge will order a fourth traffic study.  City Attorney Sweeny stated an agreement needs to be developed to agree to use the numbers obtained by a third party in order for the City and Emmerich to use mediation.  

Council’s consensus is for the City to go to mediation.

City Manager Arneson confirmed that the Council’s intent is to split the mediator cost and each party pay for its own traffic analysis.
Councilmember Kolb stated a third study needs to be conducted for the mediator to review.  

City Manager Arneson confirmed the City and Emmerich Development will go to mediation.

OTHER BUSINESS
None.

The Workshop adjourned at 7:30 p.m. 







Tom Ryan, Mayor

ATTEST:

Jane M. Cross, CMC, City Clerk

Submitted by TimeSaver Off Site Secretarial, Inc.

